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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

- SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

______________________________ X
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
V.o
AHMED ABDULKADIR WARSAME,
Defendant.
______________________________ X

Before:

11 Cr. 559

December 21, 2011
4:30 p.m.

HON. COLLEEN McMAHON,

APPEARANCES

PREET BHARARA
United States Attorney for

the

Southern District of New York

BENJAMIN NAFTALIS,
ADAM HICKEY,

Assistant United States Attorneys

PRIYA CHAUDHRY, ESQ.
Attorney for Defendant

ALSO PRESENT: ABASS GOFFREY (FBI)
STEFANIE RODDY (FBI)

District Judge
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(212)
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(Case balled)

MR. NAFTALIS: Benjamin Naftalis, Adam Hickey for the
government. . ﬁe are joiﬁed by Special Ageﬁts Abass Gofffey and
Stefanie Roddy from the FBI.

MS. CHAUDHRY : Goéd afternoon, Priya Chaudhry, for
Mr. Warsame, who is present in custbdy and standing to my left.

THE COURT: Good afternoon.

Ail right, this matter is on fdr conference and I
belieﬁe we are going to have a plea, is that correét?

Mr. Naftalis? -

MR . NAFfALIS: That’is éur uhderstanding.

. THE 'COURT: The record should reflect that the court
has granted the government 's épplidation made yesterday and
renewed this morning for an order directing that thevcourtroom
be élosed} that the transcript of this plea and the defendant's
plea agreement be sealed and the docketing of this guilty}plea,
should a guilty plea ultimately be'entgred, be delayed all
until further order of this court. The court's order provides
that the government is to report every 90 déys after the
execution of this order regarding‘the continuing need to
maintain these matters under seal, and I would appreciate in
particular being‘apprised of any developments in a case
preseﬁﬁly pending,before another judge of this court whiéh is.
scheduled‘for trial at some point in the foreseeable future.

Okay.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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Ms. Chaudhry,‘is it in fact the case that your client
wishes to enter a plea of.guilty to certain counts in the
indictﬁént against him? |

MS. CHAUDHRY; Yes, YOur Honor. It's our intention to

withdraw Mr. Warsame's not guilty plea to all 9 counts and

instead enter a guilty plea to all 9 counts of the indictment

against him.

THE COURT: Is that the government's undérsfanding,
that the défendént is'gbing to plead to the indictment?

MR. NAFTALIS: Yes, your Honor. |

THE COURT: Okay.

Mr. Warsame has on prior occasions had an interpreter.

He has also addressed himself to counsel and to the court in

English.

Ms. Chaudhry, do you wanﬁ anything on_the record with
respect. to your élient‘s need for a Somali interpreter? I n&te
none is present.

MS. CHAUDHRY: - Your Honor, Mr. Wafsame has been‘able
to dommunicate With me withbut an interpréter. He is fluent in
English and does not require, ﬂbr,asks, for one today.

| THE COURT: Thank yéu, Ms. Chaudhry.
BY THE COURT:
0. Mr. Warséme, good afternoon, sir.
A. Good afternoon, your Honor.
Q. I want.to tell you -- first of all, you méy have a seat.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300 ‘
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Until the very end of these proceedings yoﬁ may remain seated.
I Wiii tell you when you‘should'stand.

| MS. CHAUDHRY: Your Honor, before we go fﬁrther, i
just wanted'tc let the court know that he is fluent in English

but I have I have let Mr. Warsame know that if there is a word

‘that you use that he doesn't know he will ask me and I will

explain it to him.
THE COURT: Okay.

BY THE COURT:

vQ. First of all, Mr. Warsame, I want to explain something to

you. This is not a trial. This is what we call a hearing.

It's a procéedihg that we are holding because Ms. Chaudhry and
the lawyérs for ﬁhe governmeﬁt have said to me that you are
prepared today to enter a plea of guilty to the 9 counts that
are chérgéd against you in a formél charging‘document called an
indictment.

I have to satisfy myself in my own mind that you
understand whaﬁ your rights are and that if you decidé you want
to plead guilty, you are giving up those rights of your own
free will. I have to satisfy myself on these points and that
is Why we are'having this hearing. |

Do you understand what I just said to you?

A. Yes, your Honor, i understand all of my rights.
Q. Well, I am going to tell yoﬁ all of your rights so you can
be sure you understand -them. But the first thing you needvto

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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understand is that you have a riéht to‘understand everything
thét is going on in this'couftroom._ So if I say something and
you don't ﬁnderstand what I am saying please stop me and taik
to Ms. Chaudhry and we will see what'ﬁe have to do inbordér to
proceed, bkaY?
A. Okay.
0. Thank you.

The first right you have is the righﬁ to an attorney,

to the services of a lawyer, to someone to represent you.

Today, yesterday, tomorrow, as lohg as this court case exists,

you have. the right to a lawyer, Ms. Chaudhfy is your lawyer
and you have the right to talk to her at any time during these
proceedings. So if you want to. talk to her, you stop me, say I
want to ﬁalkito'Ms. Chaudhry, and you can do that.

Do you understand?
A. Yes, I understand, your Honor.
Q. Okay.

THE COURT: Ms> Chaudhry, you are, I believe,
appointed. |

MS. CHAUDHRY: I am, your Honor.

THE COURT: Correct, since‘I apbointed ydu.
BY THE COURT:
Q.4 So I‘need to tell you, Mr.‘Warsame, that if you were not
happy with Ms.‘Chaudhry's serviées, and this is also true of
Mr. Ginsberg, whq is your lawyer for some other purposes, if

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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you were not happy with their Servicés, you could tell me so
and I would ask some questions and if I thought there was a

préblem I‘wéuld appoiht a new lawyer to"represent you without

‘charge.

Do ydu'understand that?
A. - Yes, your Honor.
Q. Okay.
Are yoﬁ satisfied with the services that Ms. Chaudhry
has provided you with until this date?
A. Yes, your Honor.
Q. Thank'you.
| Okay. This is Mr. O'Neill. Mr. O'Neill is going to
ask you to'raise your right hand and to swear or to affirm that
you will tell the truth here iﬁ court answering my questions.
Mr. O'Neill.
(Defendant sworn)
BY THE COURT:
Q.. Okay.
Mr. Warsahe, if you lie to me during these

proceedings, if you lie to me, if you tell me something that is

not true, the government can charge you with the crime of

perjury, l?iﬁg under oath. And I can send you to prison or the
judge in that case can send yoﬁ to'prisdn for 5 yeérs for lying
to me or fine'ydﬁ $250,000 for lying to me. And that is
totally separate‘and apart from the crimes we are going to be

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300 e
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talking about-ﬁoday}
Do you understand?
A. Yes, your Honor.
‘Mr. Waréame,»what is youf.full‘name?

Your Honor, my full name is Ahmed Abdulkadir Warsame.

Yes, your Honor.

Q
A
Q. Ahmea Abdulkadir Warsame?
A
Q

Have you also been known from time to time by the name

thatab?

A. Yes, your Honor.

0. By'thé'name Farah? .

A. Yes, your Honor.

Q. By the name Abdik Haleem Mohammed Farah?
A. Yes;‘your Honor. |
Q. By the name Fareh Jamah Ali Mohammed?

A; Yes, your Honor.

0. How old are you, sir?

A. I am 25 years old now.

Q. You obviously understand the English language} Do you read
anvanglish?

A. Yes, your Honor, I write, read énd understand very good
English. | |

Q. Thank you, sir. You do speak English very well.

‘What is your highest level of education?

A. I spent 6 years stUdying until I reached college in the

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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United Kingdom{

Q. So college level in the Uhite&.Kingddm?

A. Yes, your Honor . |

Q. Ha&e you ever been ﬁﬁt in a»hospital for ‘drug or alcohol
addictioné |

A. No, your Honor.

Q. Have you takenfany kind of drugs or medicine or ingested

“any alcohol in the last 24 hours?

A. Are you-oﬁ.any medicines? Are they giving you ahy'
medicines in the'prison? | |

A. I have_an injury‘in my lﬁngs and the doctors in the MCC
prescribé me some medicines, yes, your Honor.

Q.. Do you know what the medicines‘are?

A. They said it's painkillers and stomach pain, and also they

prescribe me antidepression tablets, but I did not use it.

Q. You have not used the antidepreséant?
A.  No, your Honor.
Q. You have used the medicine for the stoﬁach pain?
A, Yes.
Q. Doés it ever make you dizzy or cloudy in your mind so you
can't think clearly?
A. 'No, your Honor.
Q. Are you clear in your mind today?
A. Yes, your Honor.
TEE COURT: The court notes that the defendant is

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300




10

11

12
13
14
15

16

- 17

18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

X1 CLSWARSAME SEALED

presenting with an absolutely correct demeanor. He is plainly

oriented.~ There is absolutely no sign of any sort of

.impairment that might have resulted from his use of medication

or from anything else for that matter:

Now, I have in front of me a 1etter, The letter is
dated yesterday, December 20, 2011. The letter is written oﬁ
the stationery of the United States AttorneY's Office for the
Southern District of New York. - It is addressed to Ms. Chaudhry
énd to her co-counsel, Lee Ginsberg. It is a total of 7 pages
long and it is signed by Mr. Naftalis and by Jonathan Kolodner,
the acting Chief of the Criminal Division of the United Stétes_
Attorney's Office. I have been given the original of this
letter as well.

Do you have a éopy of this letter,.Ms. Chaudhry, that
you and your client can use?

MS. CHAUDHRY : Yes, your Honor.

BY'THE COURT :
Q. Mr. Warsame, I am looking at this letter and on the last
pége of the letter under "agreed and coﬁsented to" it says
Ahmed Warsame, and the date is put in 12/21/2011.

Sir, did you put your name on that page?
Yes, your ﬁonor.

You wrote it with your own hand?

PP

Yes, the date and the name.

Q. The date and the name, okay.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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THE COURT: Ms. Chaudhry, did you also sign thié
1etter?

MS. CHAUDHRY: Yesg, I did,;your Honor .

THE COURT: Thank you, Ms. Chaudhry.
BY THE COURT:
0. Let's talk aboutlthié letter. This letter.is an agregment
between you and the United StéteS’government personified in the
Depértment of Juétice; the'United States Attorney's Office,
which is the prcsecutor‘in this case.

The first thing you need to understand is my signature
is not on this letter. I had nothing to do with preparing it.
Until I was handed it I didn;t know what was iﬁ it and I am.not

a party to it, which means I am not bound by anything in this

“letter.

Do you understand that?
A. Yes,_your Hoﬁor.
Q. I know that may seem a little strange, but that is the way
things work here so I just wanted you tb‘bé clear tﬁat it's an
agreement between you and the folks at the front table but not
an agreement between you or them and me.

Do you understand that?
A. Yes, ybur Honor.
0. Let's talk about the létter, The letter outlines the
charges'against you. I.need to tell you on the record what
those charges are, even though you know What they are. I

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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assumé, by the way, you went over this letter with Ms. Chaudhry

before you signed it, didn't you?

j A. 'Yes, your Honor.

Q. Every singlé page of it?

A. Yes, yoﬁr’Honor;

Q. And did you have a lot of opportunity, enough opportunity,
Eo ask her about the iettér and what you ére proposing to db
today?

A. Yeg, your_Honor.v

Q. And ére you satisfied you have had eﬁough time to talk to
her and to consider whether or not to sign this lettér‘and to
take a plea? |

A. Yes, your Honor.b

Q. Okay.

The record should reflect that Couﬁts 1 and 2 of the
indictment, 11 Cr. 559, charge Mr. Warsame with a violation of
of 18, United States Code, Section 2339(b) in connection with a
conspiracy to provide, and provision of, and the aiding and
abetting of provisibn of material support to an orgaﬁization
known as al Shabaab, from in or about 2007 up to in or about
April 2011, causing death. Each of Counts 1 and 2 carries a
maximum sentence of'life impriéonmeﬁt, a maximum lifetime term
of supervisedvreleaée, a maximum fine of the greatér‘of
$250,000 or twice the gross pecuniary gain derived from the
offénse or twice the gross pecuniary loss to a person other

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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than the defendént as a result of the offense, and a mandatory
$100 spécial-assessment.»

Count 3 chafges the defendant with using, carrying.and
possessing firearms, namely, an AK-47 semi-automatic assgault
weapon, machine guns and destructive devices, and‘aiding and
abetting the same during, and in rélationvto, and in
furtherénce of the crimes of violence that are charged in
Cdunts l‘and 2 in violationvof 18, United States Code, Section

924 (c). This charge carries a statutory maximum sentence of

lifetime imprisonment with a mandatory minimum term of 30 years

imprisonmént - énd the sentence on this ébunt must be imposed
consecutive to any other term of imprisonment -- a maximum term
éf supervised release of 5 years, é maximum ?ine df the greater
of $250,000 or twice the grosé pecuniary gainlto the defendant
or loss to identifiable victims other than the defendant, and a
mandatbry $100 special assessment.

Counts 4 and 5 charge the defendant with violating 18,
United Stétes Code, Section 2339 (b) in connection with a
conspiracy to provide, the provision of, and the aiding and
abetting of the-provision of material sﬁpportvto an
organization known as AQAP, al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula,
from in or about 2009 up to ahd;including in or aboﬁt 2011.

Each of these counts carries a statutory maximum sentence of 15

years imprisonment, a maximum term of lifetime supervised

release, a maximum fine of the greater of $250,000 or twice the’

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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gross pe?uniary gain to the defendant df loss to identifiable
victims other.thaﬁ_the defendant,Aand'a mandatory $100 speciai
assesément; | | |

Count.G'charges the defendant‘with using, carrying and
possessing firearms, once again an AK~47,semi—automatic assault
weapori, machiﬁe'guns, grenadeé and ammunition,'and aiding and
abetting the séﬁe dufing and in relation to and in furtherance
of the crimes charged in_Counts 4 and 5, which are crimes of
violénce in violation 6f 18, United States Code,‘Seétion
924 (c) .

Count 6 carries a statutory maximum sentence of

lifetime imprisonment, a mandatory minimum term of 30 years

imprisbnment, which must be iﬁposed_cbnsecutive to any other
term of imprisonment, and upon conviction of both Count 3 and
Count 6 a mandatory minimum term of lifetime impriéonment, a
maximum term of supervised‘release of 5 years, a maximum fine
of the greater of $250,000 or twice the gross gain to the
defendant or loss to idénﬁifiable victims other than the
défeﬁdant, and a mandatory $100 special assessment.

Count 7 charges the defendant with conspiring to teaéh
and demonstrate the making of explosives in violatioﬁ of’18,
Unitéd_States Code, Sections 842 (p) ahd 844 (n). This charge

carries a maximum sentence of 20 years imprisonment, a maximum

- term of supervised release of 3 years, a maximum fine of the

greater of $250,000 or twice the gross gain to the defendant or

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300 :
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loss to identifiable victims other than the defendant, and a
maﬁdatory $100 special.assessmeht. |

Count é charges the defendant wiﬁh conspiring‘to
receive military-type training‘froﬁ a foieigneterrorist
organization in violation of 18, United States Code, Sections
2339D and 371. This chargeAcarries a statutory maximum
sentence Qf 5.years'imprisonment, a maximum term of supervised
release of 3 years, a maximum fiﬁe of the greater of $250,000
or twice the gross pecuniery gain derived»frem fhe offense to
the defendant or loss to identifiable victims other than the
defendant, and a mandatory $100 special assessmenﬁ;

And, finally, Count 9 charges the defendant with
receiving military-type training from a foreign terrorist
organization and aiding and abetting such treining in violation
éf 18, United States Code, Section 2339D. This carries'a_
maximum sentence of ten years imprisonment, a maximum term of
lifetime supervised release, a maximum fine pursuant to Title'
18, United States Code, of the greater of $250,000 or twice the
grossvpecﬁniary gain derived from the offense to the defendant
or the gross pecuhiary loss to persons other than the |
defendént; and a mandatory $100 special assessment.

Mr. Warsame, the total maximum senténce if you were
conﬁicted(on all of.the feregoing counts is life imprisonment.
If you you were convicted of ell of the'fofegoing counts the
mandatory minimum term of . imprisonment is life imprisonment. I

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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understand that there are forfeiture allegations as well with‘J

'respebt_to Counts 1, 2, 4, 5, 7, 8 and 9,:and'that the
defendant has agreed to forfeit to the United States all right,'

title and intéreét in all assets, foreign and domestic, derived

from, involved in, and used, and intended tq be used, to‘comﬁit
a federal crime of terrorism against the United States, |
citizens énd residents of the United States, and their
propertyf It being further undérstood'that any forfeiture of
the defendant's aséets shall not be treated in satisfaction of
any fine, restitution, cost of imprisonment or any other

financial penalty that the court may impose upoh him in

?

addition to forfeiture.

Now, why have I read all those things to you when you

already went over them with Ms. Chaudhry? Well, the answer to

that question, Mr. Warsame, is I want to be sure that you heard

them and that you know what is the worst I can do to you if you’

decide to plead guilty.

Do you understand what I have just gone through and

summarized for you?

A. Yes, your Honor. »

Q. aAnd have you discussed that with Ms. Chaudhry?

A. Yes, your Honor.

Q. Is this agreement, this letter that you signed today,vis
that the entire'agreement and understanding that you héve with
the government?

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P;C.
(212) 805-0300
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A. Yes, your Honor .

Q. You need to understand that if there are any like secret

sides deals that aren't written down here, then I don't have toi

take them into account when_I.ultimately decide your fate, when
I decide how to sentenceiyou; |
- ‘Do you‘understand that?

A. Yesg, your Honor.

THE COURT: Are there any secret side deals of-which I
should be aware, Mf. Naftalis? |

MR. NAFTALIS: No, your Honor.

THE COURT: Ms. Chaudhry?

MS. CHAUDHRY: No, your Honor.

- BY THE COURT:

Q. Mr. Warsame, when you signed this letter earlier today did
you do it of your own free will?

A. Yes, your Honor.

Q. Did anyone threaten you or coerce you? Did anyone put a

guh to your head? Did anyéne say, "I am going to do SOmething
bad to your family unless you sign this letter?" Did anyone
say or do énything like that to get you to sign this letter?
A; No, your Honor.

Q. All right.

Now, the offenses that are in the letter, and we have

~already gone over the possible punishments for those offenses,

they are what we call felonies. Felony means serious crime.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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If you plead guilty to felonies you will lose, under our system

of laws, certain civil rights. If you were a citizen you would

- lose the right to vote, and the right to hold public office,

and the right to serve on a jury. Whether you are a citizen or

-not, you lose the right to possesé-any type of firearm or

destructive device and the right to possess or obtain certain
professional licenses.

Do,you'understand that?

~A. Yes, your Honor.

Q. I take it, sir, that you are not ah American ciﬁizen, is
that‘cérrect?
A. Yes, your anor.
Q. So if you are found guilty of:a felony by pléa or
otherwise, it will have an adverse impact on your immigratioﬁ
status and on any application that you may have pending or ﬁhat
you may wish to make.in the future for permissioﬁ tb remain in
the United States or to become a United StateSACitizen.

Do you understand that?
A. Yes, your Honor.
Q. I understand that there ié.in this letter agreement with
theAgovernment'some discussion at the bbttom of page 6 and the
top of page 7 concerning the fact that the guilty piea makes it
very likely that the defehdant‘will'be deported from the United
States and that»tﬁe defendant had discussed the possible
immigration consequences, including deportation, of his gﬁilty

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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18

plea and conviction Wiﬁh defense counsel.

Did you,‘ih faét, talk about those'things with Ms.
Chaudhry? |
Aﬂ ‘Yes; your Honor.

THE COURT: Ms. Chéudhry, did you discuss the

“immigration consequences of a plea with your client?

| MS. CHAUDHRY: I did, your Honor.
THE COURT: Okay.
BY THE COURT: |
Q. Lét me take a sip‘of water. Now, we will go on.

Now,‘I have told you whaé the possible punishments are
if you plead guilty to the crimes charged in the indictﬁent.
This is an unusual case, the first in my experience, because by
law if,you were to plead guilty to-all the crimes that are
charged in the indictment, which is what I understand you are
planning to do, the minimum sentence that I can give you is
lifetime in prison, which is also the‘méximﬁm sentence that I
can give y5u. That is what we call the guideline range.

| THE COURT: And because of that I think it's not
necessary to explain-to,theldefendant the Sentencing Guidelines
and the calculation of the guidelines. The‘mandétory minimum
is lifé imprisonment if the defendant pleads guilty to Counts 3
and 6, is that not correét, Mr. Naftalis?'

MR. NAFTALIS: That is correct, yoﬁr Hoﬁor.‘

THE COURT;‘ Right, okay.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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BY THE COURT:

Q. So there_is no guideline téybe computed. The guidéline is

a mandatory minimﬁm by law and the méndatory minimum is life.
Do you understana that?

A. Yes, your Honor.

Q. Now, I know it says mandatory minimum and "mandatory" means

it has to be. There is no way out. But there is, of course, a

“way out of a mandatory minimum sentence and that has to do with

whether the government at some point in time comes to me as the

judge and makes an application, a motion, to have you sentenced

without regard to the mandatory minimum. The law passed by
Congress gives the government the right to do that if you
provide substantial assistance to the government.

" Do vou understand that?

A. Yeg, your Honor. .

0. In our‘law we used to have something qalled parole when
deﬁendants were assessea and sometimes they could be released’
before the end of ﬁheir sentences,.and that was gotten rid of
some years ago. It was abolished.

| So do you uﬁderstand thatAyou will never be eligible
for early release oﬁ~parolé?

A.‘ Yeg, your.Honor.

Q. Now, some day the day is goiﬂg to coﬁe when I am going to
séntence you. Whether I senténce you to life imprisonment or
something less than life imprisonment, depénds on things.that

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300 .
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will happen after today between you and the government in the

conduct of other.investigationé and cases.

In the end, I ém.going to have to make.a decision
about what your punishﬁénf should be. And you need_td
understand that if you plead guilty today énd gsome day in the
future I say this is your punishment, this is your sentenée,
and you don‘ﬁ like'what41 say, that doesn't mean yéu'can staﬁd'
up and say, Judge, now I Wént to go to trial. I don't‘want to
plead guilty anymore.

.Do you understand that?
A. Yes, your ﬁonor.
Q. Ahmed Abdulkadir Warsame, do you Undérstand that you do not

have to'plead guilty in this matter? You have an absolute

right to plead not guilty and to have this matter tried either

to a judge or to a jury of 12 people?
A. Yes, your Honor-.

Q. Do you understand that if you decide you want to plead not

guilty, you are entitled to a speedy and publié trial of your.

case?

A. Yes, your Honor.'

Q. At any Erial do you understand that youvwould be entitled,
to the presumption of innocence and that the:presumptibnvwould
rémain with you until such time as the go#ernment proved each

and every element of the crimes with which it has charged you

beyond a reasonable doubt to.the sétisfaction of the trier of

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
: (212) 805-0300




10
11
12
13
14
15
16

17

18

19
.20
21
22
23
24

25

21
X1CLSWARSAME K SEALED

fact?

A. Yes, your Honor.

Q. Do you.understand that at such a trial you would.have‘thev
right to confront and cross examine -- with the assistance of
your attorney -- witnesses who were calléd against you? You
would havé the right to call.witnesses to testify for you. You
wduld have the right to have me sign subpbenas, documents that
compel, that force people to come to court and give testimony
on youf behalf, and you would have the right to testify at any
trial, but you éould hot be forced to to testify, and if you
chose not to testify, né unfavorable inference would be drawn
against you because of ydur &hoicé.

Do you understand that?

~A. Yes, your Honor.

Q. Finally, at such a trial you would have the right, that I
spoke of before, to the assistance of an attorney and to have

an attorney appointed to represent you without fee if you could

‘not afford a laWyer.

Do you understand that?
A. Yes, your Honor.
Q. Mr. Warsame, do you understand that if you pléad guilty to
ﬁhe charges that we have discussed today that are contained in
the indictment and that are outlined in this letter that you
signed this afternoon, you are giving'up your. right to a trial
and, except for tﬁe right to continue to be fepresented byla~

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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22

lawyer, you are also giving up all of the other righté’that_l
just ekplained to you? B |
A. Yes, your Honor. I understand.
Q. Mr. Warsaﬁe, has anyone threatened you or coerced you or
put any kind of improper preséure on yoﬁ in order to get you tb
change your plea?' | f . ,
A. No, your Hoﬁor.‘
Q. Has anyone made ahy promises to you except what the
government promised in thisg letter agreement, the 1éttér of
December 20, 2011, in order to get you ﬁo change your pleé?
A.b.No,.your Honor.
Q. Has anyone told you Judge‘McMahoﬁ is going to sentence you
to any séecific amount. of time if you chénge your plea?
A. No, your Honor.
Q. The court statesg that it has made no promises with respect
to sentencing. | |

" THE COURT: er. Naftalis, what is the‘government
prepared to prove at trial?

MR. NAFTALIS: Your Honor, would you like me to go
through all the counts at this time?

THE COURT: I think it's probably easier -- well,Ms.
Chaudhry, YOu tell me how you would prefer toto to procéed.
Would you like to go through thése oneléount at é time or woula
you prefer to have Mr. Naftalis do them all and then let your
client allocute to all of them? |

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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MS. CHAﬁDHRY:- He shoﬁld go through all of them and
then we cén go through ali ofvthem; | |

THE COURT: = Thank you..

Mr. Naftalis, I will hear you on all counts.

MR. NAFTALIS: As to Counts 1 and 4, which charge a

violation of 18 U.S.C. 2339B, and that is conspiracy to provide

_méterialvsupport to al Shabaab in Count 1 and AQAP in Count 4,

theAgovérnmént would have to préve beyohd a reasonable doubt,
first, thatfthe defendant agreed with more than one person to
prbvide maﬁerial support and resources to an brganization;

2. That that organization had, in fact, been
designated as a terrorist organization pursuant to Section 219
of the INA;’aﬁd, |

3. That the defendant knew that that organization

had, in fact, been designated as‘such or that the organization

engages in or has engaged in terrorist activity or terrorism.
In addition, as to Count 1, which charges the death of others,
we would have to prove that the conduct,céused the actual death
of aﬁothér person.

As to Counts 2 and 5, which charge -- 18 U.S.C.
2339B -- the actual providing of material support, the
government Wouid have to prove, first; that the defendant
knowingly ?rovided material support and resoﬁrces to an
organization; |

2. That that’organization had been designated as a

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
- (212)- 805-0300
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foreign terrorist organization under the INA; and,
3. That the defendant knew that the organizatién had,
in fact,‘been designated as such or engagedlin such acts of

terrorism or terrorist activities. And, 4, as to Count 2, that

.death was caused.

As to Counts 3 and 6, which are the 924 (c) counts, the

government would have to prove, first, that the defendant

‘committed a crime of violence for which he might be prosecuted

in a U.S. court;
2. That the defendant knowingly used and carried a

firearm during and in relation to the commission of, or

‘knowingly possessed a firearm in furtherance of the crime

charged; and,
3. That the firéarm in question included a
destructive device or machine gum.
As to Count 7, the 844 (n) count, the‘governmeﬁt would

have to prDVe, first, that the defendant agreéd with more than

one person to teach or demonstrate the making and use of

explosives, destructive devices, and weapons df mass
destruction; or,

2. That he agreed to distribute information
pertaining to the manufacture and use of such weapons;

3. That the conspirators, including Warsame, intended

.that the teaching, demonstration and information be used for,

and in furtherance of, a federal crime of violence.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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Count 8, which is a 371 count related to military-type
training, the government would have to prove, first, that the
defendant agreed with more than one peréon to receive

military—type training from and on behalf of a designated

~organization.

2. That the defeﬁdant knOWihgly and.inteﬁtionally
became a member of that organization; and,

3.  That at least one member.or co-conspirator took an
act to effect the object of'that'consﬁiracy.

Count 9, which is the 2339D count, the government
would have to prove, first, that the defendant knowingly
received military?type training from and on behalf of an
organization;

2. At the time he received the'tréining, the
organization was designated as such as an FTO; and,

3. That the defendant knew that the organization was
designated or that it engagés in’or_had engaged in terrorisﬁ or
terrorist activiﬁy.

THE COURT: Thank you, Mr. Naftalis.

BY THE COURT:
Q. Mr. Warsame, do you stili think that you want to plead
guilty to the crimes that the government has charged you with? .

A. Yes, your Honor.

Q. 1In that case I need for you to tell me what it is that you .

did to commit those crimes. I understand that you and Ms.

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
: . (212) 805-0300




10

11

12

13

14

15

16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
_24

25

. : 26
X1CLSWARSAME SEALED

Chaudhry have prepared a statement and I am prepared to listen

to that at this time.

"A. Your Honor, Counts 1, 2 and 3: From 2007 until April 2011,

in Somalia and Yemen, I-knowingly conspired with others,

including American citizens, to provide material support to al

~Shabaab, which I knew is listed as a foreign terrorist

organization. Further, I provided material support to al

Shabaab by fighting as a soldier on behalf of al Shabaab, and I
poésessed-and used weapons, including a machine gun and |

automatic weapons, in my role as a soldier for al Shabaab. T

"joined al Shabaab to fight the Ethiopian invasion of my native

country, Somalia. As a result of my participation in this

conspiracy, at least one person died in Somalia.

Q. Let mevstop you there for one moment.

Does the government know of any other information that
I should receive from Mr. Warsame before I can accept his
allocutibn on Counts 1, 2 and 37

MR. NAFTALIS: No, your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you, Ms. Chaudhryé

MS. CHAUDHRY : No, your Honor.

TﬁE COURT: Thank you.
Ef THE COURT:
Q. Go on please.
A. Counts 4, 5 and 6: From‘2609 to April 2011, in.Somalia and

Yemen, I knowingly conspired with others, including American

1

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
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citizens, to providé material support to al-Qaeda in the
Arabian Peninsula, which I knew is listed as a foreign
terrorist organization. I provided material support by

arranging for al Shabaab to ‘buy weapons from al-Qaeda in the

‘Arabian Peninsula, and I also received explosives and weapons

training from al-Qaeda for al Shabaab's benefit. . From 2010 to

2011 while in Yemen, I possessed weapons and explosive devices,

including a machine gun and automatic weapons, while receiving
training from al-Qaeda.
Q. Okay.

THE COURT: Does the government know of any additioﬁal
infcfmation that I need to elicit from Mr. Warsaﬁe with
relation to Counts 4, 5 and 6?.

Mﬁ. NAFTALIS: No, your Honor.

THE COURT: Ms. Chaudhry, do you?

MS.’CHAUDHRY:‘ No, ydur Honor.

BY THE COURT:

0. YouAmay continue, sir.

A. Your Honor, Count 7: From 2010 to 2011, in Yemen, I
knowingly conspired with others to teach'and démonstrate the
méking of explosives and destructive devices. Specifically,
members-of al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula taught me about

explosives and destructive devices. I was not a member of

al-Qaeda and I did this for al Shabaab's benefit, intending to

share what I learned and the matefials I gathered when I

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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returned to Somalia.

THE COURT:: Does the government know of any

information that I need to elicit additionally from Mr. Warsame

with respect to,Countv7?

MR. NAFTALIS: I think that is finé, your Hohor.
Thank you. |

THE COURT: Ms. Chaudhry, anything? '

MS. CHAUDHRY: No, your Honor .
BY THE COURT:
Q. S8ir, you may continue.
A.‘ Counts 8 and 9: From 2010 to 2011, in.Yemen, I knowingly
conspired,with others to receive militar?—tYpe training from
al-Qaeda on behalf of al Shabaab. Spécificailyh members of .
al-Qaeda taught me about explosives and destructive devices,
and also gave me other military training, such as topngaphy,
I was not a member of.al—Qaeda and I did this to supporﬁ al
Shabaab.

THE COURT:l Does the gévernment kno& of anything else
I need to elicit with respect to CoﬁntS'S and 97

MR. NAFTALIS: The only thing I would ask to elicit on
Count 8 is that the defendant conspired with at leaét one other
U.s. citiéen or who hé-believed to be a U.S. citizen.
BY THE COURT:-
Q. Were any of the people tﬁat you knowingly conspired with
American citizens?

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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You can talk ﬁé Ms-. Chaudhry.
A. Thank you, YOur.Honof.

(Pause)

MR. NAFTALIS: Your Honor, may we have a moment?

THE COURT: Yes, ébsolutely.

(Pause)

THE COURT: We are going back on the recérd.

A. Your Hénbr, in Counts 8 and 9 --

MS. CHAUDHRY: I think he 1ost his place. He was
going to repeat his allOcution; T think the government's
questions were American-citizensvinVOIQéd in Countg 8 énd-9 to
conspire with American citizens.

A. Yes, the conspiracy was also in femen and Somalia.

0. It was.in Yemen and Somalia but were any.American citizens
in the group of people that you conspiied with?.

A. Yeg, youf Honor.

Q. That is what we neéded. Okay, thank you.

THE COURT: Anything else you think needs to be
eiicited, Ms. Chau&hry? | | |

'MS. CHAUDHRY: No, yoﬁr Hoﬁor.

BY THE COURT:

Q. Mr. Warsame, these things. that ybu have just told me that

you did, did you do all of them of your own free will?
A. Yes, your Honor.
Q. And you have admitted to when and where you committed these

' SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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acts;

THE COURT: Ms._Chaﬁdhry, do you know ofvany reason
why I should-not'accept aﬁplea Ofvguilty-from your client to
each aﬁd every coﬁnt in the indictment?

MS. CHAUDHRY: . I do not, your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Naftalis, does the government know of .
any reason why I- should not accept a plea of guiityvfrom Mr.
Warsame to eéch and every cbunt_in the indictment?

~ MR. NAFTALIS : 'No, your Honor;

THE COURT: And can either of you think of anything
that I haven't covered? |

MR. NAFTALIS: vYour Honor, in an abundance of caution,
as to the‘guidelines your Honor correctly nofed that the
guidélines is a moot point here, but I would only ask that you
adv1se the defendant that at sentencing a PSR will be prepared
in connection with that sentenc1ng

'THE COURT: Just so you know, Mr. Warsame, I told you
I will be the one who decides who your sentence is to the
extent that I am able to do so consistent with the law, and
before I make up my mind-a probation officér will talk to you
and to Ms. Chaudhry, with Mr. Ginsberg, to the governmént, to
the FBI, and she or he will prepare a_big report about you so
that I know who you are and what you ha&e,dcne, and lots of"
things about you. And you will gét to see that report, and Ms.
Chaudhry will get to see that réport'before I see it, and you

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212). 805-0300.
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will get a chaﬁce'tq tell tﬁe_probation officer to make
corrections té the repért, and so wiil‘the gdvernment, and all
of that will happen,‘and then the document will coﬁe to.me; so
I wili have éll that information before I make up my mind about
the sentence. And I will also listen tQ,the‘government befOre'
I make up my mind. And I will listen té Ms. Chaudhry make
argumepts to me_befofe I make up my'mind, arguments on yoﬁr
behalf. I will listen té you. You can talk to me before I
make up my mind on the sentence.

Do you'understand that all ofbthat?

THE DEFENDANT:  Yes, your Honor, I do.

THE COURT: Anything else, Mr. Naftalis?

MR. NAFTALIS: In an abundance of caution, your Honor,

‘only that the defendant has reviewed the indictment and the

charges with his counsel with the aid of an interpreter, if
necesséry.
THE COURT:. Why didn't we do.that at the beginning,
Mr. Naftalis?
MR. NAFTALIS: This is the first opportunity I had.
THE COURT: You can always jump up,'Mr. Naftalis.
MR. NAFTALIS: I am veryvshy.
THE COURT: It's not in your jeans.
BY THE COURT: |
Q. Did Mé. Chaudhry go over the actual indictment, the
document that charged you with the crime? Did she go over that

SOUTHERN DISTRiCT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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with you?

AT Yes, yogr,Honor.

Q. And did you have the opportunity to télk with hérAthrough
an.interpreter if you needed to do that?

A 'No, I didn't ﬁave an interpfeter.

Q; Is that because yoﬁ didn't want an interpreter?

A Because my‘understanding isivery géod and I didn't ﬁeed it.
0 I really think that if Mr. Warsame has established anything
beyond a reasonable doubt to the satisféction of today's trier

of fact, whé is the éourt, he has established that he is quite

fluen£ in the English language. And I will note for the record

that Mr. Warsame had before him an aliocution, a written,

allocution, and that when he found a typographical error in it,

~and it's written in English, he corrected it. I should be so

lucky with many of my native—born American defendants.
Ahmed Abdulkadir Wérsame, how do you plead to Count 1,

conspiracy to provide material support to al Shabaab, guilty or

. not guilty?

A. Guilty, your Honor.

Q. How do you plead to Count 2, providing material support to
al Shabaab, guilty or not guilty?

A.  Guilty, your‘Honor.

Q. How do you plead to Count 3, possessing, carrying and using
a fifearm and destructive device in connection with Counts 1
and 2, guilty or not guilty?v

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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A. Guilty, your Honor.

Q. How do you plead to Count 4, conspiracy to provide material

support to al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula, guilty or not

guilﬁy?

"A. Guilty, your Honor.

Q. How do you plead to Count 5, providing material support to

al-Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula, guilty or not guilty?

A, ‘Guilty, your Honor.

Q. How do you plead to'Cqunt 6, possessing,'carrying and using
a firearm and destructive device in reSpect.of the crimes
charged in Counts 4 and 5, guilﬁy or not guilty?
A. Guilty, youf Hohor. |
Q. How do you plead to Count 7, conspiracy to teach'and
demonstrate the making‘of explosives, guilty or notvguiltyf
A. Guilty, your Honor.
Q. How do you plead to Count 8, conspiracy to receive
military-type training from a foreign terrorist organizatioﬁ,
guilﬁy or not guilty? |
A. Guilty, your Honor.
Q. And how do you plead to Count 9, receipt of military
training from a foreign terrorist organization, guilty or not
guilty?
A. Guilty, your Honor.

THE COURT: Upon this allocution I find that the
defendant is fully cpmpetent ana capable of entering an

SOUTHERN DISTRICT REPORTERS, P.C.
(212) 805-0300
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infOrmed plea. The plee is knowing and veluntary and is
supported by independent factual basis for each and every
element ef the crime charged in the indictﬁent. Aecordingly,
the defendant is adjudicated'guilty ot Counts 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6,
7, 8 and 9 as charged in indictment number 11 Cr. 559;'

You may be seated, sir.

THE,DEFENDANT: Thank you, your Honor.

THE COURT: Now, I am obviously not goinglto direct
that a presentence investigation be conducted at this time.
Eventually we will get there and eventuelly there Will be a
presentence investigation and I have explained that process to
Mr: Wéfsaﬁe already; |

Now, it should be understood, I was advised before
this proceeding, and I perceived that during the proceeding no

SEPA information is contained in the transcript of this

proceeding, so when we are able to unseal, the entire

transcript will be unsealed.
Ielthat the government;s-understanding, Mr. Naftalisg?
MR. NAFTALIS: It is.
THE COURT: Ms. Chaudhry?
MS. CHAUDHRY: Yes, your Honor.
THE COURT: Okay.
Counsel, thank you very much..
Mr. Warsame, thank you very much.

These proceedings are closed.

i
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